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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended December 31, 2012

OR

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from                     to                     

Commission file number 0000-26251

NETSCOUT SYSTEMS, INC.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)
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Delaware 04-2837575
(State or Other Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or Organization)

(IRS Employer

Identification No.)
310 Littleton Road, Westford, MA 01886

(978) 614-4000

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    YES  x    NO  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to submit and post such files.)    YES  x    NO  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer,� �accelerated filer� and �smaller reporting company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
(Check one):

Large accelerated filer ¨ Accelerated filer x

Non-accelerated filer ¨  (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).     YES  ¨    NO  x

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant�s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, as of January 25, 2013 was 41,614,169.
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PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Unaudited Financial Statements

NetScout Systems, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,
2012

March 31,
2012

Assets (Unaudited)
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 90,836 $ 117,255
Marketable securities 35,324 79,617
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,033 and $226 at December 31, 2012 and March 31,
2012, respectively 61,908 69,795
Inventories 7,427 8,021
Prepaid income taxes 8,917 4,600
Deferred income taxes 5,664 4,237
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 9,465 6,162

Total current assets 219,541 289,687
Fixed assets, net 18,077 16,457
Goodwill 203,251 170,384
Intangible assets, net 65,433 54,685
Deferred income taxes 11,755 17,892
Long-term marketable securities 10,540 16,644
Other assets 3,523 2,008

Total assets $ 532,120 $ 567,757

Liabilities and Stockholders� Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 9,151 $ 7,539
Accrued compensation 29,016 23,050
Accrued other 7,404 6,235
Current portion of contingent liabilities 4,224 3,774
Deferred revenue 90,567 93,493

Total current liabilities 140,362 134,091
Other long-term liabilities 2,044 2,347
Deferred tax liability 2,467 1,410
Accrued long-term retirement benefits 1,818 1,990
Long-term deferred revenue 22,717 18,722
Long-term debt 0 62,000
Contingent liabilities, net of current portion 2,370 4,828

Total liabilities 171,778 225,388

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value:
5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding at December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012 0 0
Common stock, $0.001 par value:
150,000,000 shares authorized; 48,887,013 and 48,185,731 shares issued and 41,604,647 and 41,814,191 shares
outstanding at December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012, respectively 49 48
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Additional paid-in capital 248,694 237,289
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,450 212
Treasury stock at cost, 7,282,366 and 6,371,540 shares at December 31, 2012 and
March 31, 2012, respectively (76,759) (56,032) 
Retained earnings 186,908 160,852

Total stockholders� equity 360,342 342,369

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 532,120 $ 567,757

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NetScout Systems, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
December 31,

Nine Months Ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2012 2011
Revenue:
Product $ 52,676 $ 46,005 $ 139,100 $ 113,616
Service 38,891 37,292 113,373 105,601

Total revenue 91,567 83,297 252,473 219,217

Cost of revenue:
Product 12,182 10,731 32,582 27,439
Service 6,982 6,508 20,386 19,273

Total cost of revenue 19,164 17,239 52,968 46,712

Gross profit 72,403 66,058 199,505 172,505

Operating expenses:
Research and development 15,352 13,593 44,630 36,073
Sales and marketing 30,105 27,518 86,997 81,144
General and administrative 8,539 6,564 22,071 20,135
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 846 565 2,077 1,541
Restructuring charges (1) 372 1,065 372

Total operating expenses 54,841 48,612 156,840 139,265

Income from operations 17,562 17,446 42,665 33,240
Interest and other expense, net:
Interest income 115 104 423 304
Interest expense (293) (472) (1,085) (1,449) 
Other income (expense), net 74 (150) 86 (607) 
Loss on extinguishment of debt 0 (690) 0 (690) 

Total interest and other expense, net (104) (1,208) (576) (2,442) 

Income before income tax expense 17,458 16,238 42,089 30,798
Income tax expense 6,320 6,207 16,033 11,317

Net income $ 11,138 $ 10,031 $ 26,056 $ 19,481

Basic net income per share $ 0.27 $ 0.24 $ 0.62 $ 0.46
Diluted net income per share $ 0.26 $ 0.24 $ 0.62 $ 0.46
Weighted average common shares outstanding used in computing:
Net income per share � basic 41,709 41,523 41,715 42,126
Net income per share � diluted 42,298 42,303 42,364 42,815
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NetScout Systems, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
December 31,

Nine Months Ended
December 31,

    2012        2011        2012        2011    
Net Income $ 11,138 $ 10,031 $ 26,056 $ 19,481
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized (loss) gain on cash equivalents, marketable securities and restricted
investment, net of taxes (benefits) of $0, $0, ($73) and ($58) (24) 17 97 154
Unrealized gain (loss) on hedge contracts, net of (benefits) taxes of ($23), ($39), $88
and ($241) (38) (68) 138 (393) 
Cumulative translation adjustments 719 (936) 1,003 (936) 

Other comprehensive income 657 (987) 1,238 (1,175) 

Comprehensive income $ 11,795 $ 9,044 $ 27,294 $ 18,306

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NetScout Systems, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended
December 31,

2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 26,056 $ 19,481
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities, net of the effects of acquisitions:
Depreciation and amortization 13,826 12,191
Loss on extinguishment of debt 0 553
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 71 149
Deal related compensation expense and accretion charges 205 0
Share-based compensation expense associated with equity awards 7,254 6,117
Net change in fair value of contingent and contractual liabilities 400 0
Deferred income taxes 6,237 3,258
Other gains (16) (35) 
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable 12,130 16,189
Inventories 1,568 (2,285) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets (4,358) (800) 
Accounts payable (3,137) (2,752) 
Accrued compensation and other expenses 6,400 (1,403) 
Contingent liabilities 449 �  
Deferred revenue (107) (6,780) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 66,978 43,883

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of marketable securities (102,478) (89,369) 
Proceeds from maturity of marketable securities 153,046 161,365
Purchase of fixed assets (8,312) (7,852) 
Increase in deposits (804) 0
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (51,273) (46,721) 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (9,821) 17,423

Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of common stock under stock plans 516 264
Payment of contingent consideration (3,197) 0
Treasury stock repurchases (20,727) (17,939) 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of issuance costs 0 60,691
Repayment of long-term debt (62,000) (68,106) 
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation awards 1,934 (612) 

Net cash used in financing activities (83,474) (25,702) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (102) (10) 
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Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (26,419) 35,594
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 117,255 67,168

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 90,836 $ 102,762

Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid for interest $ 325 $ 1,008
Cash paid for income taxes $ 12,460 $ 9,648
Non-cash transactions:
Transfers of inventory to fixed assets $ 583 $ 1,910
Additions to property, plant and equipment included in accounts payable $ 370 $ 184
Contingent consideration related to acquisitions, included in contigent liabilities $ 0 $ 8,000
Debt issuance costs settled through the issuance of additional debt $ 0 $ 1,184
Interest settled through issuance of additional debt $ 0 $ 125
Gross decrease in contractual liability relating to fair value adjustment $ (135) $ 0
Gross increase in contingent consideration liability relating to fair value adjustment $ 535 $ 0
Issuance of common stock under employee stock plans $ 2,224 $ 0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NetScout Systems, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 � BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared by NetScout Systems, Inc., or NetScout or the
Company. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared under generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In
the opinion of management, the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring
adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of the Company�s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The year-end consolidated
balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. The results reported in these consolidated financial statements are not necessarily indicative of results
that may be expected for the entire year. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated
financial statements, including the notes thereto, included in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31,
2012.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2012, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update 2012-02: Testing Indefinite-Lived
Intangible Assets for Impairment (ASU 2012-02). ASU 2012-02 gives entities an option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether
the existence of events and circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired. If based on
its qualitative assessment an entity concludes that it is more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than
its carrying amount, quantitative impairment testing is required. However, if an entity concludes otherwise, quantitative impairment testing is not
required. ASU 2012-02 is effective for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012 (the
first quarter of fiscal year 2014 for the Company), with early adoption permitted. The company intends to early adopt this standard during the
fourth quarter of its fiscal year ending March 31, 2013 for its annual impairment test. The Company does not expect that the adoption of this
standard will have a material effect on its financial statements.

On April 1, 2012, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update 2011-05: Presentation of Comprehensive Income (ASU 2011-05), which
requires an entity to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive
income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. ASU 2011-05 eliminates
the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in equity. These consolidated financial
statements include separate Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-11: Balance Sheet (Topic 210), Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities, which
requires companies to disclose information about financial instruments that have been offset and related arrangements to enable users of its
financial statements to understand the effect of those arrangements on its financial position. Companies will be required to provide both net
(offset amounts) and gross information in the notes to the financial statements for relevant assets and liabilities that are offset. ASU 2011-11 will
be effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning on or after January 1, 2013 (the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013
for the Company). The adoption of ASU 2011-11 will impact financial statement presentation only; accordingly, it will have no impact on the
Company�s financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

NOTE 2 � CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK AND SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS

Financial instruments, which include cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable, are stated at cost, plus accrued interest
where applicable, which approximates fair value. Debt is recorded at the

5
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amount drawn on the revolving credit facility plus interest based on floating rates reflective of changes in the market which approximates fair
value.

At December 31, 2012, the Company had one direct customer which accounted for more than 10% of the accounts receivable balance, while no
indirect customer accounted for more than 10% of the accounts receivable balance. At March 31, 2012, no one direct customer or indirect
channel partner accounted for more than 10% of the accounts receivable balance. During the three and nine months ended December 31, 2012
and 2011, no one direct customer or indirect channel partner accounted for more than 10% of total revenue. Historically, the Company has not
experienced any significant failure of its customers to meet their payment obligations nor does the Company anticipate material
non-performance by its customers in the future; accordingly, the Company does not require collateral from its customers. However, if the
Company�s assumptions are incorrect, there could be an adverse impact on its allowance for doubtful accounts.

NOTE 3 � SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The following is a summary of share-based compensation expense including restricted stock units and employee stock purchases made under our
employee stock purchase plan (ESPP) based on estimated fair values within the applicable cost and expense lines identified below (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
December 31, December 31,

    2012        2011    2012 2011
Cost of product revenue $ 61 $ 49 $ 176 $ 137
Cost of service revenue 96 49 249 161
Research and development 778 600 2,164 1,702
Sales and marketing 775 775 2,301 2,152
General and administrative 754 697 2,353 1,965

$ 2,464 $ 2,170 $ 7,243 $ 6,117

Employee Stock Purchase Plan � The Company maintains an ESPP for all eligible employees as described in the Company�s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2012. Under the ESPP, shares of the Company�s common stock may be purchased on the last day of
each bi-annual offering period at 85% of the fair value on the last day of such offering period. The offering periods run from March 1 through
August 30 and from September 1 through February 28 of each year. During the nine months ended December 31, 2012, employees purchased
93,661 shares under the ESPP and the fair value per share was $23.75.

NOTE 4 � CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents and
those investments with original maturities greater than three months to be marketable securities. Cash and cash equivalents consisted of money
market instruments and cash maintained with various financial institutions at December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012.

6
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Marketable Securities

The following is a summary of marketable securities held by NetScout at December 31, 2012 classified as short-term and long-term (in
thousands):

Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains

Fair
Value

Type of security:
U.S. government and municipal obligations $ 15,751 $ 5 $ 15,756
Commercial paper 13,587 0 13,587
Corporate bonds 3,076 0 3,076
Certificates of deposit 2,905 0 2,905

Total short-term marketable securities 35,319 5 35,324

U.S. government and municipal obligations 10,019 1 10,020
Corporate bonds 518 2 520

Total long-term marketable securities 10,537 3 10,540

Total marketable securities $ 45,856 $ 8 $ 45,864

The following is a summary of marketable securities held by NetScout at March 31, 2012, classified as short-term and long-term (in thousands):

Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains
(Losses)

Fair
Value

Type of security:
U.S. government and municipal obligations $ 17,779 $ 20 $ 17,799
Commercial paper 22,469 0 22,469
Corporate bonds 18,531 (1) 18,530
Certificates of deposit 3,208 (1) 3,207
Auction rate securities 17,612 0 17,612

Total short-term marketable securities 79,599 18 79,617

Auction rate securities 1,651 (190) 1,461
U.S. government and municipal obligations 13,828 8 13,836
Corporate bonds 1,345 2 1,347

Total long-term marketable securities 16,824 (180) 16,644

Total marketable securities $ 96,423 $ (162) $ 96,261

Contractual maturities of the Company�s marketable securities held at December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012 were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2012

March 31,
2012
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Available-for-sale securities:
Due in 1 year or less $ 35,324 $ 79,617
Due after 1 year through 5 years 10,540 15,183
Due after 10 years 0 1,461

$ 45,864 $ 96,261

During the quarter ended June 30, 2012, redemptions for the Company�s remaining auction rate securities totaling $19.3 million were settled,
$17.6 million of which were classified as current marketable securities as of

7
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March 31, 2012 and another $1.7 million classified as long-term marketable securities. As a result of the settlements, during the three months
ended June 30, 2012, the Company reversed the remaining valuation reserve of $190 thousand ($117 thousand, net of tax) previously recorded
within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the balance sheet. The Company held no investments in auction rate securities at
December 31, 2012.

NOTE 5 � FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following tables present the Company�s financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis using the fair value hierarchy as of
December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012. The fair value hierarchy has three levels based on the reliability of the inputs used to determine fair
value. Level 1 refers to fair values determined based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 refers to fair values
estimated using significant other observable inputs, and Level 3 includes fair values estimated using significant non-observable inputs.

Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 90,836 $ 0 $ 0 $ 90,836
U.S. government and municipal obligations 25,776 0 0 25,776
Commercial paper 0 13,587 0 13,587
Corporate bonds 3,596 0 0 3,596
Certificate of deposits 0 2,905 0 2,905
Derivative financial instruments 0 293 0 293

$ 120,208 $ 16,785 $ 0 $ 136,993

LIABILITIES:
Contingent consideration $ 0 $ 0 $ (5,756) $ (5,756) 
Contingent contractual non-compliance liability 0 0 (295) (295) 
Derivative financial instruments 0 (68) 0 (68) 

$ 0 $ (68) $ (6,051) $ (6,119) 

Fair Value Measurements at
March 31, 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 117,255 $ 0 $ 0 $ 117,255
U.S. government and municipal obligations 31,635 0 0 31,635
Commercial paper 0 22,469 0 22,469
Corporate bonds 19,877 0 0 19,877
Certificate of deposits 0 3,207 0 3,207
Auction rate securities 0 17,612 1,461 19,073
Derivative financial instruments 0 150 0 150

$ 168,767 $ 43,438 $ 1,461 $ 213,666

LIABILITIES:
Contingent consideration $ 0 $ 0 $ (8,213) $ (8,213) 
Contingent contractual non-compliance liability 0 0 (700) (700) 
Derivative financial instruments 0 (166) 0 (166) 
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$ 0 $ (166) $ (8,913) $ (9,079) 
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This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
determining fair value. On a recurring basis, the Company measures certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value, including marketable
securities and derivative financial instruments.

The Company�s Level 1 investments are classified as such because they are valued using quoted market prices or alternative pricing sources with
reasonable levels of price transparency.

The Company�s Level 2 investments are classified as such because fair value is being calculated using data from similar but not identical sources,
or a discounted cash flow model using the contractual interest rate as compared to the underlying interest yield curve. The Company�s short-term
auction rate securities at March 31, 2012 were classified as Level 2 since the amounts were based upon redemption notices for an inactive
market. The Company�s derivative financial instruments consist of forward foreign exchange contracts and are classified as Level 2 because the
fair values of these derivatives are determined using models based on market observable inputs, including spot prices for foreign currencies, as
well as an interest rate factor. Commercial paper and certificate of deposits are classified as Level 2 because the Company uses market
information from similar but not identical instruments and discounted cash flow models based on interest rate yield curves to determine fair
value. For further information on the Company�s derivative instruments refer to Note 9.

The Company�s long-term auction rate securities at March 31, 2012 were classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to the limited
market data for pricing these securities and the subjective factors considered to create a liquidity discount. The Company�s contingent purchase
consideration and contingent contractual non-compliance liability are valued by probability weighting expected payment scenarios and then
applying a discount based on the present value of the future cash flow streams. The Company has elected to account for the contractual
non-compliance liability at fair value. This election has been made as both contingent liabilities are related. The fair value election created parity
between the two items during the settlement period. These liabilities are classified as Level 3 because the probability weighting of future
payment scenarios is based on assumptions developed by management.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of changes in the fair value of the Company�s Level 3 financial assets for the nine months ended
December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Auction Rate
Securities

Contingent
Purchase

Consideration

Contingent
Contractual

Non-compliance
Liability

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,461 $ (8,213) $ (700) 
Change in fair value (included within research and development expense) 0 (740) 135
ARSs redeemed by issuers (1,650) 0 0
Unrealized gains included in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) 190 0 0
Unrealized gain (loss) included in earnings (1) 0 0
Payments 0 3,197 270

Balance at end of period $ 0 $ (5,756) $ (295) 

The Company has updated the probabilities used in the fair value calculation of the contingent liabilities at December 31, 2012 which resulted in
an additional liability of $400 thousand included as part of earnings for the nine months ended December 31, 2012. The fair value of the
contingent consideration was estimated by applying a probability based model, which utilizes significant inputs that are unobservable in the
market. Key assumptions include a 3.3% discount rate, a stay period of two or three years and a percent weighted-probability of settlement of the
contingent contractual non-compliance liability. Deal related compensation expense, accretion charges and changes related to settlements of
contractual non-compliance liabilities for the nine months ended December 31, 2012 was $205 thousand and was included as part of earnings.

9
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During the quarter ended December 31, 2012, the Level 3 liability related to the contractual non-compliance liability was paid and resulted in a
$270 thousand decrease. All amounts were accurately reflected in purchase accounting and there was no impact to earnings in the
post-acquisition period.

NOTE 6 � INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of actual cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined by using the FIFO method. Inventories consist of the
following (in thousands):

December 31,
2012

March 31,
2012

Raw materials $ 1,486 $ 4,083
Work in process 1,983 363
Finished goods 3,958 3,575

$ 7,427 $ 8,021

NOTE 7 � ACQUISITIONS

While the Company uses its best estimates and assumptions as part of the purchase price allocation process to value the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed on the acquisition date, its estimates and assumptions are subject to refinement. As a result, during the preliminary purchase
price allocation period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed with a corresponding offset to goodwill. The Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
subsequent to the purchase price allocation period in the Company�s operating results in the period in which the adjustments were determined.
The results of operations of the acquired businesses described below have been included in the Company�s consolidated financial statements
beginning on their respective acquisition dates unless indicated otherwise below.

ONPATH

On October 31, 2012, the Company acquired ONPATH Technologies, Inc. (ONPATH), an established provider of scalable packet flow
switching technology for high-performance networks for the aggregation and distribution of network traffic for data, voice, video testing,
monitoring, performance management and cybersecurity deployments. ONPATH�s packet flow switch technology is synergistic with the
Company�s network monitoring switch strategy. The acquisition of the packet flow switch technology further strengthens the Company�s Unified
Service Delivery Management strategy by enabling scalable access to all relevant network traffic across highly distributed network
environments for use by any network monitoring, performance management and security system. ONPATH�s test automation technology is used
to monitor networks in test environments which simulate existing and planned network environments. The results of ONPATH�s operations have
been included in the consolidated financial statements since October 31, 2012. The total cash transferred of $41.0 million consisted entirely of
cash consideration, of which $8.2 million will be paid to employees and directors of ONPATH pursuant to ONPATH�s transaction bonus and
retention plan. Approximately $4.0 million of the transaction bonuses are considered compensation and is therefore not included as
consideration within the table below.

10
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The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price (in thousands):

Allocation of the purchase consideration:
Current assets, including cash and cash equivalents of $527 $ 8,389
Fixed assets 778
Identifiable intangible assets 10,970
Goodwill 20,869
Deferred tax asset 6,330
Other assets 1,432

Total assets acquired 48,768
Current liabilities (6,387) 
Deferred revenue (921) 
Deferred income tax liabilities (4,660) 

$ 36,800

Goodwill was recognized for the excess purchase price over the fair value of the assets acquired. Goodwill of $17.8 million from the ONPATH
acquisition will be included within the Company�s existing Unified Service Delivery reporting unit and $3.1 million will be included within the
test automation reporting unit. Both reporting units resulting from the acquisition of ONPATH will be included in the Company�s annual
impairment review.

The fair values of intangible assets were based on valuations using an income approach, with estimates and assumptions provided by
management of ONPATH and the Company. These assumptions include estimates of future revenues associated with the technology purchased
as part of the acquisition and the migration of the current technology to more advanced version of the software. This fair value measurement was
based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represents Level 3 fair value measurements. The following table reflects the
fair value of the acquired identifiable intangible assets and related estimates of useful lives (in thousands):

Fair Value
Useful Life
(Years)

Developed technology $ 4,970 8
Customer relationships 6,000 7

$ 10,970

The weighted average useful life of identifiable intangible assets acquired from ONPATH is 7.5 years. Acquired software is amortized using an
accelerated amortization method. Customer relationships are amortized on a straight-line basis.

Goodwill and intangible assets recorded as part of the ONPATH acquisition are not deductible for tax purposes.

The Company notes that it acquired significant net operating losses from ONPATH. ONPATH has represented to the Company that there were
no historical changes in control that would limit NetScout�s ability to utilize these net operating losses in its consolidated federal return. NetScout
has assumed these representations are correct per the disclosed acquisition allocation. However, NetScout is performing a detailed change in
control study to ensure losses are not limited by an event other than the NetScout acquisition. The Company also notes that ONPATH did not
claim research and development credits for historical tax returns. NetScout believes that certain ONPATH activities qualify for a research and
development credit, and will perform analysis on the historical periods to identify and claim credits for historical research and development
activities. No credit has been recorded within the acquisition allocation. Any adjustments to either of these items within one year of acquisition
will be recorded against goodwill.
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Accanto

On July 20, 2012 the Company acquired certain assets, technology and employees of Accanto Systems, S.r.l. (Accanto), a supplier of service
assurance solutions for telecommunication service providers which enables carriers to monitor and manage the delivery of voice services over
converged, next generation telecom architectures. Accanto�s technology is synergistic with the Company�s packet flow strategy and brings voice
service monitoring capabilities for legacy environments and for next generation network voice services. The Company intends to maintain a
relationship with the selling entity such that the selling entity will serve as a distributor for the Company. The results of Accanto�s operations,
related to those assets, technology and employees acquired, have been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date. The total
purchase price of $15.0 million consisted entirely of cash consideration. The goodwill recognized primarily relates to the value in combining
Accanto�s product with our customer base.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price (in thousands):

Allocation of the purchase consideration:
Current assets $ 389
Fixed assets 237
Identifiable intangible assets 5,280
Goodwill 11,157

Total assets acquired 17,063
Current liabilities (839) 
Deferred revenue (240) 
Deferred income tax liabilities (984) 

$ 15,000

Goodwill was recognized for the excess purchase price over the fair value of the assets acquired. Goodwill from the Accanto acquisition will be
included within the Company�s Unified Service Delivery reporting unit and will be included in the Company�s annual impairment review. The
acquired software intangible had a tax basis of approximately $2.1 million which carried over as part of the acquisition and will be deductible for
tax purposes. Under Italian tax law the Company may chose to step up all or a portion of the basis for the remaining value of the acquired
software as well as the customer relationships and goodwill by paying a substitute tax on those assets. The Company has not completed its
economic analysis of this item and has until June 2013 to make an election to step up the basis in the intangibles acquired. As this election does
not relate to the agreement between the Company and Accanto, it will not affect balances recorded in purchase accounting.

The fair values of intangible assets were based on valuations using an income approach, with estimates and assumptions provided by
management of Accanto and the Company. These assumptions include estimates of future revenues associated with the technology purchased as
part of the acquisition and the migration of the current technology to more advanced version of the software. This fair value measurement was
based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represents Level 3 fair value measurements. The following table reflects the
fair value of the acquired identifiable intangible assets and related estimates of useful lives (in thousands):

Fair Value
Useful Life
(Years)

Developed technology $ 3,500 8
Distributor relationships 1,780 6

$ 5,280

The weighted average useful life of identifiable intangible assets acquired from Accanto is 7.3 years. Acquired software is amortized using an
accelerated amortization method. Distributor relationships are amortized on a straight-line basis.
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The Company incurred approximately $1.3 million of acquisition-related costs related to Accanto and ONPATH which are included in general
and administrative expense during the nine months ended December 31, 2012.

In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, the Company completed the acquisitions of Psytechnics, Ltd (Psytechnics), Fox Replay BV (Replay)
and Simena, LLC (Simena) described more fully in the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2012.

Simena

On November 18, 2011, the Company completed the acquisition of Simena for $10.1 million. The purchase price is no longer preliminary.

In connection with the acquisition of Simena, the Company became obligated to pay the seller up to $10.8 million in additional purchase
consideration subject to adjustment based on the final determination of certain assets and liabilities. As a result, a majority of the changes to the
value of the contingent consideration would be expected to have an offsetting impact on the recorded values of the assets and liabilities assumed
as part of the transaction.

The contingent liability was recorded at its fair value of $8.0 million at the acquisition date. The Company has re-measured the fair value at
December 31, 2012 and will re-measure the fair value of the consideration at each subsequent reporting period and recognize any adjustment to
fair value as part of earnings.

Replay

On October 3, 2011, the Company completed the acquisition of Replay for $20.2 million.

Psytechnics

On April 1, 2011, the Company completed the acquisition of Psytechnics for $17.0 million.

Goodwill resulting from the acquisitions of Psytechnics, Replay and Simena is included within the Company�s Unified Service Delivery
reporting unit and will be included in the Company�s annual impairment review.

During the nine months ended December 31, 2012, the Company has recorded $15.6 million of revenue directly attributable to ONPATH,
Replay, Accanto and Simena within its consolidated financial statements.

The following table presents unaudited pro forma results of the historical Consolidated Statements of Operations of the Company and ONPATH,
Accanto, Simena and Replay for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, giving effect to the mergers as if they occurred
on April 1, 2011 (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended
December 31,

Nine Months Ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2012 2011
Pro forma revenue $ 94,221 $ 91,566 $ 263,009 $ 244,003
Pro forma net income $ 11,038 $ 1,813 $ 20,036 $ 2,409
Pro forma income per share:
Basic $ 0.26 $ 0.04 $ 0.48 $ 0.06
Diluted $ 0.26 $ 0.04 $ 0.47 $ 0.06
Pro forma shares outstanding
Basic 41,709 41,523 41,715 42,126
Diluted 42,298 42,303 42,364 42,815
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The pro forma results for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 primarily include adjustments for amortization of
intangibles. This pro forma information does not purport to indicate the results that would have actually been obtained had the acquisitions been
completed on the assumed date, or which may be realized in the future.

NOTE 8 � GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

The Company has two reporting units: (1) Unified Service Delivery and (2) test automation. As of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012,
goodwill attributable to the Unified Service Delivery reporting unit was $200.1 million and $170.4 million, respectively and goodwill
attributable to the test automation reporting unit was $3.1 million and $0, respectively. Goodwill is tested for impairment at a reporting unit level
at least annually, or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change that would, more likely than not, reduce the fair value of the
reporting segment below its carrying value. The Company will complete its annual impairment test during the quarter ended March 31, 2013.

The carrying amount of goodwill was $203.3 million and $170.4 million as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012. The following table
summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended
December 31, 2012

Balance at March 31, 2012 $ 170,384
Goodwill related to the acquisition of Accanto 11,157
Goodwill related to the acquisition of ONPATH 20,869
Foreign currency translation impact 841

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 203,251

Intangible Assets

The net carrying amounts of intangible assets were $65.4 million and $54.7 million as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012, respectively.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recorded under the acquisition method of accounting at their estimated fair values at the
date of acquisition. The Company amortizes intangible assets over their estimated useful lives, except for the acquired trade name which resulted
from the Network General acquisition, which has an indefinite life and thus is not amortized. The carrying value of the indefinite lived trade
name will be evaluated for potential impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might
be impaired.

Intangible assets consist of the following as of December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization Net

Developed technology $ 33,677 $ (21,318) $ 12,359
Customer relationships 38,743 (10,351) 28,392
Distributor relationships 1,931 (142) 1,789
Indefinite lived trade name 18,600 0 18,600
Core technology 4,744 (812) 3,932
Net beneficial leases 336 (336) 0
Non-compete agreements 341 (142) 199
Other 397 (235) 162

$ 98,769 $ (33,336) $ 65,433
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Intangible assets consist of the following as of March 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization Net

Developed technology $ 24,919 $ (17,943) $ 6,976
Customer relationships 32,754 (8,492) 24,262
Indefinite lived trade name 18,600 0 18,600
Core technology 4,760 (306) 4,454
Net beneficial leases 336 (334) 2
Non-compete agreements 343 (57) 286
Other 200 (95) 105

$ 81,912 $ (27,227) $ 54,685

Amortization of software and core technology included as cost of product revenue was $959 thousand and $3.9 million for the three and nine
months ended December 31, 2012, respectively. Amortization of other intangible assets included as operating expense was $906 thousand and
$2.2 million for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2012, respectively.

Amortization of software included as cost of product revenue was $1.2 million and $3.4 million for the three and nine months ended
December 31, 2011, respectively. Amortization of other intangible assets included as operating expense was $565 thousand and $1.6 million for
the three and nine months ended December 31, 2011, respectively.

The following is the expected future amortization expense as of December 31, 2012 for the years ended March 31 (in thousands):

2013 (remaining three months) $ 1,506
2014 6,726
2015 6,888
2016 6,366
2017 5,774
Thereafter 19,573

$ 46,833

The weighted average amortization period of acquired software and core technology is 6.7 years. The weighted average amortization period for
customer and distributor relationships is 13.3 years. The weighted average amortization period for amortizing all intangibles is 10.1 years.

NOTE 9 � DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

NetScout operates internationally and, in the normal course of business, is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The
exposures result from costs that are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, primarily the Euro, British Pound, Canadian Dollar,
and Indian Rupee. The Company manages its foreign cash flow risk by hedging forecasted cash flows for operating expenses denominated in
foreign currencies for up to twelve months, within specified guidelines through the use of forward contracts. The Company enters into foreign
currency exchange contracts to hedge cash flow exposures from costs that are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. These
hedges are designated as cash flow hedges at inception.

All of the Company�s derivative instruments are utilized for risk management purposes, and the Company does not use derivatives for
speculative trading purposes. These contracts will mature over the next twelve months and are expected to impact earnings on or before
maturity.
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The notional amounts and fair values of derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012
were as follows (in thousands):

Notional Amounts (a) Other Current Assets
Accrued Other
Liabilities

December 31,
2012

March 31,
2012

December 31,
2012

March 31,
2012

December 31,
2012

March 31,
2012

Derivatives Designated as Hedging
Instruments:
Forward contracts $ 14,375 $ 11,203 $ 293 $ 150 $ 68 $ 166

(a) Notional amounts represent the gross contract/notional amount of the derivatives outstanding.
The following table provides the effect foreign exchange forward contracts had on other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI) and results of
operations for the three months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Derivatives in Cash
Flow Hedging
Relationships

Effective Portion                      Ineffective Portion                    
Gain (Loss)
Recognized in

OCI on Derivative
(a)

Gain (Loss) Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI into Income
(b)

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income (Amount
Excluded from Effectiveness Testing)

(c)
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2011 Location
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2011 Location
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2011
Forward contracts

$ (46) $ 359
Research and
development $ (52) $ 136

Research and
development $ 51 $ (15) 

Sales and
marketing 67 116

Sales and
marketing (9) (7) 

$ (46) $ 359 $ 15 $ 252 $ 42 $ (22) 

(a) The amount represents the change in fair value of derivative contracts due to changes in spot rates.
(b) The amount represents reclassification from other comprehensive income to earnings that occurs when the hedged item affects earnings.
(c) The amount represents the change in fair value of derivative contracts due to changes in the difference between the spot price and forward

price that is excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and therefore recognized in earnings. No gains or losses were reclassified
as a result of discontinuance of cash flow hedges.

The following table provides the effect foreign exchange forward contracts had on OCI and results of operations for the nine months ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Derivatives in Cash
Flow Hedging
Relationships

Effective Portion                      Ineffective Portion                    
Gain (Loss)
Recognized in

OCI on Derivative
(a)

Gain (Loss) Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI into Income
(b)

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income (Amount
Excluded from Effectiveness Testing)

(c)
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2011 Location
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2011 Location
December 31,

2012
December 31,

2011
Forward contracts

$ (22) $ 665
Research and
development $ (289) $ 138

Research and
development $ 137 $ (91) 
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Sales and
marketing 41 (107) 

Sales and
marketing (4) (42) 

$ (22) $ 665 $ (248) $ 31 $ 133 $ (133) 

(a) The amount represents the change in fair value of derivative contracts due to changes in spot rates.
(b) The amount represents reclassification from other comprehensive income to earnings that occurs when the hedged item affects earnings.
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(c) The amount represents the change in fair value of derivative contracts due to changes in the difference between the spot price and forward
price that is excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and therefore recognized in earnings. No gains or losses were reclassified
as a result of discontinuance of cash flow hedges.

NOTE 10 � LONG-TERM DEBT

On October 29, 2012, the Company paid down its outstanding credit facility in the amount of $62.0 million. As of December 31, 2012 there
were no amounts outstanding under this credit facility.

On November 22, 2011, the Company entered into a credit facility (the Credit Agreement) with a syndicate of lenders led by KeyBank National
Association (KeyBank) providing the Company with a $250 million revolving credit facility, which may be increased to $300 million at any
time up to 90 days before maturity. The revolving credit facility includes a swing line loan sub-facility of up to $10 million and a letter of credit
sub-facility of up to $10 million. The credit facility under the Credit Agreement matures on November 21, 2016.

At the Company�s election, revolving loans under the Credit Agreement bear interest at either (a) a rate per annum equal to the highest of
(1) KeyBank�s prime rate, (2) 0.50% in excess of the federal funds effective rate, or (3) one hundred (100.00) basis points in excess of the
London Interbank Offered Rate for one-month interest periods, or the Base Rate; or (b) the one-, two-, three-, or six-month per annum London
InterBank Offered Rate (LIBOR), as selected by the Company, multiplied by the statutory reserve adjustment, or collectively, the Eurodollar
Rate, in each case plus an applicable margin. Swing line loans will bear interest at the Base Rate plus the applicable Base Rate margin.
Beginning with the delivery of the Company�s financial statements for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, the applicable margin began to
depend on the Company�s leverage ratio, ranging from 100 basis points for Base Rate loans and 200 basis points for Eurodollar Rate loans if the
Company�s consolidated leverage ratio is 2.50 to 1.00 or higher, down to 25 basis points for Base Rate loans and 125 basis points for Eurodollar
Rate loans if the Company�s consolidated leverage ratio is 1.00 to 1.00 or less.

The Company may prepay loans under the Credit Agreement at any time, without penalty, subject to certain notice requirements. Debt is
recorded at the amount drawn on the revolving credit facility plus interest based on floating rates reflective of changes in the market which
approximates fair value.

The loans are guaranteed by each of the Company�s domestic subsidiaries and are collateralized by all of the assets of the Company and its
domestic subsidiaries, as well as 65% of the capital stock of the Company�s foreign subsidiaries directly owned by the Company and its domestic
subsidiaries. The Credit Agreement generally prohibits any other liens on the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, subject to certain
exceptions as described in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement contains certain covenants applicable to the Company and its
subsidiaries, including, without limitation, limitations on additional indebtedness, liens, various fundamental changes (including mergers and
dispositions of assets), dividends and distributions, capital expenditures, investments (including acquisitions and investments in foreign
subsidiaries), transactions with affiliates, sale-leaseback transactions, hedge agreements, payment of junior financing, material changes in
business, and other limitations customary in senior secured credit facilities. In addition, the Company is required to maintain certain consolidated
leverage and interest coverage ratios as well as a minimum liquidity amount. As of December 31, 2012, the Company was in compliance with all
of these covenants.

NOTE 11 � RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, the Company implemented a plan to restructure parts of its general and administrative organization
to centralize operations as well as its international sales organization to better align resources with forecasted sales opportunities. As a result of
the restructuring program, the Company eliminated 12 employees. The Company recorded $603 thousand of restructuring charges during the
year ended March 31, 2012 related to severance costs to be paid to employees.
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During the quarter ended September 30, 2012, the Company restructured part of its international sales organization related to an overlap of
personnel acquired as part of the Accanto acquisition. The Company recorded $1.2 million of restructuring charges during the three months
ended September 30, 2012 related to severance costs.

The restructuring liability consists of the following (in thousands):

Employee Severance:

Three Months Ended
December 31,

2012

Nine Months Ended
December 31,

2012
Balance at beginning of period $ 1,082 $ 360
Restructuring charges (reversal) to operations (1) 1,140
Other adjustments (87) 
Cash payments (114) (446) 

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 967 $ 967

The accrual for employee related severance is included as accrued compensation in the Company�s consolidated balance sheet.

NOTE 12 � COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Acquisition related � The Company recorded two contingent liabilities related to the acquisition of Simena, one relates to future consideration to
be paid to the former owner which had an initial fair value of $8.0 million at the time of acquisition and another relates to contractual
non-compliance liabilities incurred by Simena with an initial fair value of $1.6 million at the time of acquisition. At December 31, 2012, the
present value of the future consideration was $5.8 million and the contractual non-compliance liability was $295 thousand.

During the summer of 2012, NetScout received letters from former Accanto employees reserving their rights and alleging violations of Italian
Civil Code Article 2112. Further, in December 2012, NetScout received communication from an Italian law firm engaged by a subset of Accanto
employees asserting violations of Italian Civil Code Article 2112 and requesting transfer of employment to NetScout. The Company determined
that legal action and a resulting liability are probable related to certain Accanto employees based on the communications received. As of
December 31, 2012, the Company has accrued an immaterial liability that it is less than the maximum potential liability that NetScout would be
liable for under the Share Purchase Agreement. The Company believes the maximum potential liability that NetScout is liable for is also
immaterial.

Legal � From time to time, NetScout is subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of these
proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, there are no matters as of December 31, 2012, that would have material adverse
effect on the Company�s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In March 2012, NetScout uncovered and investigated, and in April 2012, disclosed to the U.S. Department of Justice and the California State
Attorney General potential violations of federal and California state anti-trust laws. The potential violations involve a former employee and one
or more third parties in connection with sales to state governmental agencies during fiscal year 2012. NetScout believes it did not benefit from
any of the transactions uncovered and believes that the amounts involved are not material. The California State Attorney General is conducting
an investigation into the matter. NetScout is cooperating fully and is providing all requested information. In general, the federal and state
agencies have the authority to seek fines and other remedies for anti-trust violations; however, no charges or proceedings have been initiated by
any governmental agency against NetScout, and the Company has been informed by the Department of Justice that it does not intend to take any
action against NetScout. The Company determined that it is probable that there will be amounts due, those amounts are reasonably estimable and
have been accrued as an immaterial liability as of December 31, 2012.
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NOTE 13 � TREASURY STOCK

On September 17, 2001, the Company announced an open market stock repurchase program to purchase up to one million shares of outstanding
Company common stock, subject to market conditions and other factors. Any purchases under the Company�s stock repurchase program may be
made from time to time without prior notice. On July 26, 2006, the Company announced that it had expanded the existing open market stock
repurchase program to enable the Company to purchase up to an additional three million shares of the Company�s outstanding common stock,
bringing the total number of shares authorized for repurchase to four million shares. Through December 31, 2012, the Company had repurchased
a total of 2,506,293 shares of common stock through the open market stock repurchase program. The Company repurchased 749,499 shares for
$17.0 million under the program during the nine months ended December 31, 2012.

In connection with the vesting and release of the restriction on previously vested shares of restricted stock, the Company repurchased
161,327 shares for $3.7 million related to minimum statutory tax withholding requirements on these restricted stock units during the nine months
ended December 31, 2012. These repurchase transactions do not fall under the repurchase program described above, and therefore do not reduce
the amount that is available for repurchase under that program.

NOTE 14 � NET INCOME PER SHARE

Calculations of the basic and diluted net income per share and potential common shares are as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended
December 31,

Nine Months Ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2012 2011
Basic:
Net income $ 11,138 $ 10,031 $ 26,056 $ 19,481

Weighted average common shares outstanding 41,709 41,523 41,715 42,126

Basic net income per share $ 0.27 $ 0.24 $ 0.62 $ 0.46

Diluted:
Net income $ 11,138 $ 10,031 $ 26,056 $ 19,481

Weighted average common shares outstanding 41,709 41,523 41,715 42,126
Weighted average stock options 111 141 127 157
Weighted average restricted stock units 478 639 522 532

Diluted weighted average shares 42,298 42,303 42,364 42,815

Diluted net income per share $ 0.26 $ 0.24 $ 0.62 $ 0.46

The following table sets forth restricted stock units excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per share, since their inclusion would be
antidilutive (in thousands).

Three Months Ended
December 31,

Nine Months Ended
December 31,

    2012        2011        2012        2011    
Restricted stock units 43 96 283 98

Total 43 96 283 98
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outstanding for purposes of calculating basic earnings per share. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding plus the dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding stock options, restricted shares and restricted stock units using the
treasury stock method. The calculation of the dilutive effect of outstanding equity awards under the treasury stock method includes consideration
of proceeds from the assumed exercise of stock options, unrecognized compensation expense and any tax benefits as additional proceeds.

NOTE 15 � INCOME TAXES

The estimated annual effective tax rate as of December 31, 2012 for fiscal year 2013 is 36.8%, compared to an estimated annual effective rate of
34.9% as of December 31, 2011 for fiscal year 2012. Generally, the estimated annual effective tax rates differ from statutory rates due to the
impact of the domestic production activities deduction, the impact of state taxes, and federal, foreign and state tax credits. The difference in our
estimated effective tax rate compared to the prior year is primarily due to acquisition related items, the expiration of the research and
development credit and differences in tax rates in foreign jurisdictions as compared to the United States. The year-to-date estimated annual
effective tax rate also reflects certain discrete tax adjustments primarily related to acquisition costs.

NOTE 16 � SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company reports revenues and income under one reportable segment. The consolidated financial information is used by the chief operating
decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The Company manages its business in the following geographic areas: United States, Europe, Asia and the rest of the world. In accordance with
United States export control regulations, the Company does not sell or do business with countries subject to economic sanctions and export
controls.

Total revenue by geography is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
December 31,

Nine Months Ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2012 2011
United States $ 66,990 $ 60,737 $ 188,701 $ 162,273
Europe 12,940 9,278 31,373 24,117
Asia 4,201 4,839 12,678 13,314
Rest of the world 7,436 8,443 19,721 19,513

$91,567 $ 83,297 $ 252,473 $ 219,217

The United States revenue includes sales to resellers in the United States. These resellers fulfill customer orders and may subsequently ship the
Company�s products to international locations. The Company reports these shipments as United States revenue since the Company ships the
products to a United States location. A majority of revenue attributable to locations outside of the United States is a result of export sales. As of
December 31, 2012, substantially all of the Company�s identifiable assets are located in the United States.
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Item 2.  Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following information should be read in conjunction with the unaudited consolidated financial information and the notes thereto included in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In addition to historical information, the following discussion and other parts of this Quarterly Report
contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements. Actual events or results may differ materially due to competitive factors and other factors referred to in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report. These factors may cause
our actual results to differ materially from any forward-looking statement.

Overview

We design, develop, manufacture, market, sell and support market leading unified service delivery management, service assurance and
application performance management solutions focused on assuring service delivery for the world�s largest, most demanding and complex IP
based service delivery environments. We manufacture and market these products in integrated hardware and software solutions that are used by
commercial enterprises, large governmental agencies and telecommunication service providers worldwide. We have a single operating segment
and substantially all of our identifiable assets are located in the United States.

Our operating results are influenced by a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the mix and quantity of products and services sold,
pricing, costs of materials used in our products, growth in employee related costs, including commissions, and the expansion of our operations.
Factors that affect our ability to maximize our operating results include, but are not limited to, our ability to introduce and enhance existing
products, the marketplace acceptance of those new or enhanced products, continued expansion into international markets, development of
strategic partnerships, competition, successful acquisition integration efforts, our ability to achieve significant expense reductions and make
structural improvements and current economic conditions.

On October 31, 2012, we completed the acquisition of ONPATH Technologies, Inc. (ONPATH), an established provider of scalable packet flow
switching technology for high-performance networks for the aggregation and distribution of network traffic for data, voice, video testing,
monitoring, performance management and cybersecurity deployments. ONPATH�s packet flow switch technology is synergistic with the
Company�s network monitoring switch strategy. The acquisition of the packet flow switch technology further strengthens the Company�s Unified
Service Delivery Management strategy by enabling scalable access to all relevant network traffic across highly distributed network
environments for use by any network monitoring, performance management and security system. ONPATH�s test automation technology is used
to monitor networks in test environments which simulate existing and planned network environments. We paid $36.8 million in cash for the
acquisition of ONPATH and $4.2 million of additional compensation consideration to be paid out in the future.

On July 20, 2012, we completed the acquisition of certain assets, technology and employees from Accanto Sytems, S.r.l. (Accanto). Accanto
provides service assurance for telecommunication service providers enabling carriers to monitor and manage the delivery of voice services over
converged, next generation network architectures. This technology is synergistic with our packet flow strategy and brings voice service
monitoring capabilities for legacy voice environments and for next generation network voice services, including voice over IP (VoIP) and voice
over long-term evolution (VoLTE) for 4G wireless networks. NetScout paid $15.0 million for the acquisition of Accanto.

Results Overview

During the quarter ended December 31, 2012, net income and net income per share increased 11% and 8%, respectively compared to the same
period in the prior year.
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We saw continued growth during the quarter ended December 31, 2012, with product revenue growth of 15% and overall revenue growth of
10% compared to the same period in the prior year.

Total new business bookings increased by 15% during the nine months ended December 31, 2012 when compared to the same period in the prior
year. Our new business bookings for the service provider sector grew 51% for the nine months ended December 31, 2012 when compared to the
same period in the prior year. This is the result of the expansion of our Long-term Evolution (LTE) deployments within the major global
carriers. Our new business bookings for the financial enterprise sector grew 9% for the nine months ended December 31, 2012 when compared
to the same period in the prior year. New business bookings from the government enterprise sector decreased by 30% for the nine months ended
December 31, 2012 as compared to the same period in the prior year due to the deferral by the federal government on long-term strategic
initiatives. A new business booking is defined as new product orders and new service orders including new maintenance purchases.

We ended the quarter ended December 31, 2012 with backlog of $17.3 million.

At December 31, 2012 cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaled $136.7 million, down $76.8 million from $213.5 million at
March 31, 2012 due primarily to the $62.0 million repayment of long-term debt, $51.3 million used for the acquisitions of ONPATH and
Accanto, $20.7 million of cash used to repurchase shares of our common stock and $8.1 million of cash used for capital expenditures, offset by
$67.0 million of cash provided by operating activities.

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We supplement the GAAP financial measures we report in quarterly earnings announcements, investor presentations and other investor
communications by reporting the following non-GAAP measures: non-GAAP revenue, non-GAAP net income and non-GAAP net income per
diluted share. Non-GAAP revenue eliminates the GAAP effects of acquisitions by adding back revenue related to deferred revenue revaluation.
Non-GAAP net income includes the foregoing adjustment and also removes inventory fair value adjustments, expenses related to the
amortization of acquired intangible assets, stock-based compensation, restructuring, certain expenses relating to acquisitions including
compensation for post-combination services and business development charges, as well as early extinguishment of debt, net of related income
tax effects. Non-GAAP diluted net income per share also excludes these expenses as well as the related impact of all these adjustments on the
provision for income taxes.

These non-GAAP measures are not in accordance with GAAP, should not be considered an alternative for measures prepared in accordance with
GAAP (revenue, net income and diluted net income per share), and may have limitations in that they do not reflect all our results of operations
as determined in accordance with GAAP. These non-GAAP measures should only be used to evaluate our results of operations in conjunction
with the corresponding GAAP measures. The presentation of non-GAAP information is not meant to be considered superior to, in isolation from
or as a substitute for results prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Management believes these non-GAAP financial measures enhance the reader�s overall understanding of NetScout�s current financial
performance and its prospects for the future by providing a higher degree of transparency for certain financial measures and providing a level of
disclosure that helps investors understand how NetScout plans and measures its business. We believe that providing these non-GAAP measures
affords investors a view of our operating results that may be more easily compared to our peer companies and also enables investors to consider
our operating results on both a GAAP and non-GAAP basis during and following the integration period of our acquisitions. Presenting the
GAAP measures on their own may not be indicative of our core operating results. Furthermore, management believes that the presentation of
non-GAAP measures when shown in conjunction with the corresponding GAAP measures provide useful information to management and
investors regarding present and future business trends relating to our financial condition and results of operations.
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The following table reconciles revenue, net income and net income per share on a GAAP and non-GAAP basis for the three and nine months
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
December 31,

Nine months ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2012 2011
GAAP revenue $ 91,567 $ 83,297 $ 252,473 $ 219,217
Deferred revenue fair value adjustment 400 118 671 158

Non-GAAP revenue $ 91,967 $ 83,415 $ 253,144 $ 219,375

GAAP net income $ 11,138 $ 10,031 $ 26,056 $ 19,481
Deferred revenue fair value adjustment 400 118 671 158
Inventory fair value adjustment 249 0 249 0
Share based compensation expense 2,464 2,170 7,243 6,117
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 1,805 1,780 5,938 4,953
Business development and integration expense 543 1,780 1,374 4,253
Compensation for post combination services 1,005 168 1,819 168
Restructuring charges (1) 372 1,065 372
Loss on extinguishment of debt 0 690 0 690
Income tax adjustments (2,257) (2,299) (6,498) (5,598) 

Non-GAAP net income $ 15,346 $ 14,810 $ 37,917 $ 30,594

GAAP diluted net income per share $ 0.26 $ 0.24 $ 0.62 $ 0.46
Share impact of non-GAAP adjustments identified above 0.10 0.11 0.28 0.25

Non-GAAP diluted net income per share $ 0.36 $ 0.35 $ 0.90 $ 0.71

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America consistently applied. The preparation
of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make significant estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported in our
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. These items are regularly monitored and analyzed by management for changes in
facts and circumstances, and material changes in these estimates could occur in the future. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in
which they become known. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from our estimates.

While all of our accounting policies impact the consolidated financial statements, certain policies are viewed to be critical. Critical accounting
policies are those that are both most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and that require management�s
most subjective or complex judgments and estimates. We consider the following accounting policies to be critical in fully understanding and
evaluating our financial results:

� revenue recognition;

� valuation of goodwill and acquired intangible assets; and

� share-based compensation.
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the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on May 25, 2012, for a description of all critical accounting policies.
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Three Months Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

Revenue

Product revenue consists of sales of our hardware products and licensing of our software products. Service revenue consists of customer support
agreements, consulting and training. During the three months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, no one customer accounted for more than
10% of total revenue.

Three Months Ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Change2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Revenue:
Product $ 52,676 58% $ 46,005 55% $ 6,671 15% 
Service 38,891 42 37,292 45 1,599 4% 

Total revenue $ 91,567 100% $ 83,297 100% $ 8,270 10% 

Product. The 15%, or $6.7 million, increase in product revenue was due to a $7.3 million increase in our general enterprise sector and a $4.3
million increase in revenue from our service provider sector. These increases were offset by a $3.9 million decrease in our government
enterprise sector and a $1.0 million decrease in our financial enterprise sector. Compared to the same period in the prior year, we realized a 6%
decrease in units shipped, while the average selling price per unit of our products increased approximately 14%. The increase in average selling
price is due to product mix.

We expect our service provider sector to continue to be a significant driver of future growth.

Service. The 4%, or $1.6 million, increase in service revenue was due to a $1.7 million increase in revenue from maintenance contracts due to
increased new maintenance and renewals from a growing support base and a $427 thousand increase in premium support contracts. These were
offset by a $459 thousand decrease in consulting revenue and a $63 thousand decrease in training revenue.

Total product and service revenue from direct and indirect channels are as follows:

Three Months Ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Change2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Indirect $ 47,907 52% $ 48,652 58% $ (745) (2%) 
Direct 43,660 48 34,645 42 9,015 26% 

Total revenue $ 91,567 100% $ 83,297 100% $ 8,270 10% 

The 2%, or $745 thousand, decrease in indirect channel revenue is the result of the decrease in sales to our government sector, which generally
come through resellers. Sales to customers outside the United States are export sales typically through channel partners, who are generally
responsible for distributing our products and providing technical support and service to customers within their territories. Our reported
international revenue does not include any revenue from sales to customers outside the United States that are shipped to our United States-based
indirect channel partners. These domestic resellers fulfill customer orders based upon joint selling efforts in conjunction with our direct sales
force and may subsequently ship our products to international locations; however, we report these shipments as United States revenue since we
ship the products to a domestic
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location. The 26%, or $9.0 million, increase in direct channel revenue is largely the result of orders placed by domestic service provider
customers and general enterprise customers for the three months ended December 31, 2012.

Total revenue by geography is as follows:

Three Months Ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Change2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

United States $ 66,990 73% $ 60,737 73% $ 6,253 10% 

International:
Europe 12,940 14 9,278 11 3,662 39% 
Asia 4,201 5 4,839 6 (638) (13%) 
Rest of the world 7,436 8 8,443 10 (1,007) (12%) 

Subtotal international 24,577 27 22,560 27 2,017 9% 

Total revenue $ 91,567 100% $ 83,297 100% $ 8,270 10% 

United States revenues increased 10%, or $6.3 million, as a result of an increase in our service provider and general enterprise sectors. The 9%,
or $2.0 million, increase in international revenue is primarily due to an increase in our service provider sector in Europe. We expect revenue
from sales to customers outside the United States to continue to account for a significant portion of our total revenue in the future. In accordance
with United States export control regulations we do not sell to, or do business with, countries subject to economic sanctions and export controls.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

Cost of product revenue consists of material components, manufacturing personnel expenses, including stock-based compensation costs,
manuals, packaging materials, overhead and amortization of capitalized software, acquired software and core technology. Cost of service
revenue consists of personnel, including stock-based compensation costs, material, overhead and support costs.

Three Months Ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Change2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Cost of revenue
Product $ 12,182 13% $ 10,731 13% $ 1,451 14% 
Service 6,982 8 6,508 8 474 7% 

Total cost of revenue $ 19,164 21% $ 17,239 21% $ 1,925 11% 

Gross profit:
Product $ $ 40,494 44% $ 35,274 42% $ 5,220 15% 
Product gross profit % 77% 77% 
Service $ $ 31,909 35% $ 30,784 37% $ 1,125 4% 
Service gross profit % 82% 83% 
Total gross profit $ $ 72,403 $ 66,058 $ 6,345 10% 
Total gross profit % 79% 79% 
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Product. The 14%, or $1.5 million, increase in cost of product revenue was primarily due to the 15% increase in product revenue during the
three months ended December 31, 2012. In addition, there was a $249 thousand increase due to an inventory fair value adjustment related to the
acquisition of ONPATH. Amortization of software and core technology included as cost of product revenue decreased by $256 thousand for the
three months ended December 31, 2012. The product gross profit percentage remained flat at 77% during the three months ended December 31,
2012 as compared to the three months ended December 31, 2011. Average headcount in manufacturing was 30 and 26 for the three months
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Service. The 7%, or $474 thousand, increase in cost of service revenue was due to a $415 thousand increase in employee related expenses
resulting from increased salaries and incentive compensation as well as a $93 thousand increase in allocated overhead costs. The service gross
profit percentage decreased by one percentage point to 82% for the quarter ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the three months ended
December 31, 2011. The 4%, or $1.1 million, increase in service gross profit corresponds with the 4%, or $1.6 million, increase in service
revenue, offset by the 7%, or $474 thousand, increase in cost of services. Average service headcount was 135 and 125 for the three months
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Gross profit. Our gross profit increased 10%, or $6.3 million. This increase is attributable to our increase in revenue of 10%, or $8.3 million,
offset by an 11%, or $1.9 million, increase in cost of revenue. The gross margin percentage remained flat at 79% for the three months ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Operating Expenses

Three Months Ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Change2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Research and development $ 15,352 17% $ 13,593 16% $ 1,759 13% 
Sales and marketing 30,105 33 27,518 33 2,587 9% 
General and administrative 8,539 9 6,564 8 1,975 30% 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 846 1 565 1 281 50% 
Restructuring charges (1) 0 372 0 (373) (100%) 

Total operating expenses $ 54,841 60% $ 48,612 58% $ 6,229 13% 

Research and development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses, including stock-based compensation
costs, fees for outside consultants, overhead and related expenses associated with the development of new products and the enhancement of
existing products.

The 13%, or $1.8 million, increase in research and development expenses is due to a $2.2 million increase in employee related expenses due to
increased headcount and incentive compensation, a $222 thousand increase in compensation for post combination services related to the
acquisitions of Simena and ONPATH, a $212 thousand increase in travel expenses and a $206 thousand increase in consulting. These were
offset by a $1.3 million decrease in business development expenses. Average headcount in research and development was 359 and 293 for the
three months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses, including stock-based compensation costs and
commissions, overhead and other expenses associated with selling activities and marketing programs such as trade shows, seminars, advertising,
and new product launch activities.
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The 9%, or $2.6 million, increase in total sales and marketing expenses was due to a $722 thousand increase in employee related expenses, a
$642 thousand increase in marketing related expenses, sales meeting expenses increased by $456 thousand, a $380 thousand increase in
recruiting costs, a $385 thousand increase in depreciation for demonstration and spare part units and a $162 thousand increase in depreciation.
These increases were offset by a $546 thousand decrease in commission expense. Average headcount in sales and marketing was 349 and 318
for the three months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses for executive, financial, legal and
human resource employees, including stock-based compensation costs, overhead and other corporate expenditures.

The 30%, or $2.0 million, increase in general and administrative expenses was due to a $584 thousand increase in deal related compensation
related to the acquisitions of ONPATH and Accanto, a $551 thousand increase in bad debt expense, a $372 thousand increase in software license
expense, a $284 thousand increase in business development expense, a $180 thousand increase in employee related expenses. Average
headcount in general and administrative was 118 and 116 for the three months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets. Amortization of acquired intangible assets consists primarily of amortization of customer
relationships related to the acquisitions of ONPATH, Accanto, Simena, Replay, Psytechnics and Network General Central Corporation.

The 50%, or $281 thousand, increase in amortization of acquired intangible assets is due to the increase of expense recorded related to the
acquisitions of ONPATH and Accanto. The amortization related to these acquisitions was not recorded during the three months ended
December 31, 2011 as the acquisitions have occurred within the past twelve months. In addition, there was an increase related to the acquisition
of Simena during the three months ended December 31, 2012 since Simena was acquired on November 21, 2011.

Restructuring charges. Restructuring charges decreased by $373 thousand due to a plan during the quarter ended December 31, 2011 to
restructure parts of our general and administrative organization to centralize operations as well as our international sales organization to better
align our resources with forecasted sales opportunities. As a result of the restructuring program, we eliminated or moved 2 positions and
recorded $372 thousand of restructuring charges related to severance costs paid to employees.

Interest and Other Expense, Net. Interest and other income (expense), net includes interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities, interest expense and other non-operating gains or losses.

Three Months Ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Change2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Interest and other expense, net $ (104) (0%) $ (1,208) (1%) $ 1,104 91% 
The 91%, or $1.1 million, decrease in interest and other income (expense), net was due to a $690 thousand decrease related to the loss on
extinguishment of debt in connection with the refinancing of our previous credit facility during the three months ended December 31, 2011, a
$217 thousand decrease in foreign currency transaction expense, a $179 thousand decrease in interest expense due to a decrease in the interest
rate as well as the payment of our outstanding debt during the quarter ended December 31, 2012 and an $11 thousand increase in interest income
received on investments.

Income Tax Expense. We estimate our income tax expense based on our estimated annual effective tax rate. The estimated annual effective tax
rate as of December 31, 2012 for fiscal year 2013 is 36.8%, compared to an
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estimated annual effective tax rate of 34.9% as of December 31, 2011 for fiscal year 2012. Generally, the annual effective tax rates differ from
statutory rates primarily due to the impact of the domestic production activities deduction, the impact of state taxes, and federal, foreign and
state tax credits. The difference in our estimated effective tax rate compared to the prior year is primarily due to acquisition related items, the
expiration of the research and development credit and differences in tax rates in foreign jurisdictions as compared to the United States. The
Company expects to record a tax benefit in the quarter ended March 31, 2013 related to the extension of the research and development tax credit
signed into law in January 2013.

Three Months Ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Change2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Income tax expense $ 6,320 7% $ 6,207 7% $ 113 2% 
Nine months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

Revenue

During the nine months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, no one customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue.

Nine Months Ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Change2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Revenue:
Product $ 139,100 55% $ 113,616 52% $ 25,484 22% 
Service 113,373 45 105,601 48 7,772 7% 

Total revenue $ 252,473 100% $ 219,217 100% $ 33,256 15% 

Product. The 22%, or $25.5 million, increase in product revenue was due to a $23.1 million increase in revenue from our service provider
sector, a $7.6 million increase in our general enterprise sector and a $1.3 million increase in our financial enterprise sector. These increases were
offset by a $6.5 million decrease in our government enterprise sector. Compared to the same period in the prior year, we realized a 7% increase
in units shipped, while the average selling price per unit of our products increased approximately 13%. The increase in average selling price is
due to product mix.

We expect our service provider sector to continue to be a significant driver of future growth.

Service. The 7%, or $7.8 million, increase in service revenue was due to a $7.8 million increase in revenue from maintenance contracts due to
increased new maintenance and renewals from a growing support base and a $1.1 million increase in premium support contracts. This was
partially offset by a $978 thousand decrease in consulting revenue and a $179 thousand decrease in training revenue.
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Total product and service revenue from direct and indirect channels are as follows:

Nine months ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands) Change
2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Indirect $ 122,708 49% $ 121,857 56% $ 851 1% 
Direct 129,765 51 97,360 44 32,405 33% 

Total revenue $ 252,473 100% $ 219,217 100% $ 33,256 15% 

The 1%, or $851 thousand, increase in indirect channel revenue is the result of the increase in sales in Europe to our service provider customers.
Sales to customers outside the United States are export sales typically through channel partners, who are generally responsible for distributing
our products and providing technical support and service to customers within their territories. Our reported international revenue does not
include any revenue from sales to customers outside the United States that are shipped to our United States-based indirect channel partners.
These domestic resellers fulfill customer orders based upon joint selling efforts in conjunction with our direct sales force and may subsequently
ship our products to international locations; however, we report these shipments as United States revenue since we ship the products to a
domestic location. The 33%, or $32.4 million, increase in direct channel revenue is the result of increased domestic revenue from our service
provider and general enterprise customers.

Total revenue by geography is as follows:

Nine months ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands) Change
2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

United States $ 188,701 75% $ 162,273 74% $ 26,428 16% 

International:
Europe 31,373 12 24,117 11 7,256 30% 
Asia 12,678 5 13,314 6 (636) (5%) 
Rest of the world 19,721 8 19,513 9 208 1% 

Subtotal international 63,772 25 56,944 26 6,828 12% 

Total revenue $ 252,473 100% $ 219,217 100% $ 33,256 15% 

United States revenues increased 16%, or $26.4 million, as a result of an increase in our service provider and general enterprise sectors. The
12%, or $6.8 million, increase in international revenue is primarily due to an increase in our service provider sector in Europe and the rest of the
world.
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Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

Nine months ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands) Change
2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Cost of revenue
Product $ 32,582 13% $ 27,439 12% $ 5,143 19% 
Service 20,386 8 19,273 9 1,113 6% 

Total cost of revenue $ 52,968 21% $ 46,712 21% $ 6,256 13% 

Gross profit:
Product $ $ 106,518 42% $ 86,177 39% $ 20,341 24% 
Product gross profit % 77% 76% 
Service $ $ 92,987 37% $ 86,328 39% $ 6,659 8% 
Service gross profit % 82% 82% 
Total gross profit $ $ 199,505 $ 172,505 $ 27,000 16% 

Total gross profit % 79% 79% 

Product. The 19%, or $5.1 million, increase in cost of product revenue was primarily due to the 22% increase in product revenue during the nine
months ended December 31, 2012. In addition, there was a $249 thousand increase due to an inventory fair value adjustment related to the
acquisition of ONPATH. In addition, amortization of software and core technology included as cost of product revenue increased by $449
thousand for the nine months ended December 31, 2012. The product gross profit percentage increased by one percentage point to 77% during
the nine months ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the same period in the prior year. This increase was primarily due to favorable
overhead absorption and a shift to higher margin products during the nine months ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the nine months
ended December 31, 2011, offset by the increase in amortization of software and core technology and the increase due to the inventory fair value
adjustment. Average headcount in manufacturing was 28 and 27 for the nine months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Service. The 6%, or $1.1 million, increase in cost of service revenue was due to a $1.1 million increase in employee related expenses resulting
from increased headcount to support our growing installed base as well as increased incentive compensation, and a $318 thousand increase in
allocated overhead costs, offset by a $253 thousand decrease in cost of materials used to support customers under service contracts. The service
gross profit percentage remained flat at 82% for the nine months ended December 31, 2012 when compared to the nine months ended
December 31, 2011. The 8%, or $6.7 million, increase in service gross profit corresponds with the 7%, or $7.8 million, increase in service
revenue, offset by the 6%, or $1.1 million, increase in cost of services. Average service headcount was 138 and 123 for the nine months ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Gross profit. Our gross profit increased 16%, or $27.0 million. This increase is attributable to our increase in revenue of 15%, or $33.3 million,
offset by a 13%, or $6.3 million, increase in cost of revenue. The gross margin percentage remained flat at 79% for the nine months ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011.
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Operating Expenses

Nine months ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands) Change
2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Research and development $ 44,630 18% $ 36,073 17% $ 8,557 24% 
Sales and marketing 86,997 34 81,144 37 5,853 7% 
General and administrative 22,071 9 20,135 9 1,936 10% 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 2,077 1 1,541 1 536 35% 
Restructuring charges 1,065 0 372 0 693 186% 

Total operating expenses $ 156,840 62% $ 139,265 64% $ 17,575 13% 

Research and development. The 24%, or $8.6 million, increase in research and development expenses is due to a $6.5 million increase in
employee related expenses due to increased headcount and incentive compensation, a $1.0 million increase in compensation for post
combination services related to the acquisitions of Replay and ONPATH, a $331 thousand increase in allocated overhead, a $324 thousand
increase in consulting costs, a $307 thousand increase in travel expenses, a $259 thousand increase in meeting expenses, a $250 thousand
increase in rent expense, a $199 thousand increase in rent expense and a $126 thousand increase in office expenses. These were offset by a $1.4
million decrease in business development expenses. Average headcount in research and development was 331 and 288 for the nine months
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Sales and marketing. The 7%, or $5.9 million, increase in total sales and marketing expenses was due to a $1.7 million increase in marketing
related expenses, a $1.5 million increase in employee related expenses due to increased headcount, a $945 thousand increase in sales meeting
costs, a $892 thousand increase in expenses related to the NetScout user conference as this was not held during the nine months ended
December 31, 2011 and a $653 thousand increase in recruitment. Average headcount in sales and marketing was 331 and 320 for the nine
months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

General and administrative. The 10%, or $1.9 million, increase in general and administrative expenses was due to a $1.3 million increase in
employee related expenses related to an increase in incentive compensation, a $760 thousand increase in software license expenses and a $560
thousand increase in bad debt expense. These expenses were offset by an $801 thousand decrease in business development costs associated with
acquisitions. Average headcount in general and administrative was 113 and 118 for the nine months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets. Amortization of acquired intangible assets consists primarily of amortization of customer
relationships related to the acquisitions of ONPATH, Accanto, Simena, Replay, Psytechnics and Network General.

The 35%, or $536 thousand, increase in amortization of acquired intangible assets is due to the increase of expense recorded related to the
acquisitions of ONPATH, Accanto, Simena and Replay. The amortization related to the acquisitions ONPATH and Accanto were not recorded
during the nine months ended December 31, 2011 as the acquisitions have occurred within the past twelve months. In addition, there was an
increase related to the acquisition of Simena during the three months ended December 31, 2012 since Simena was acquired on November 21,
2011.

Restructuring charges. During the nine months ended December 31, 2012, we restructured part of our international sales organization related to
an overlap of personnel acquired as part of the Accanto acquisition and also eliminated one European sales executive. As a result, we recorded
$1.2 million of restructuring charges during the nine months ended December 31, 2012 related to severance costs.
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Interest and Other Expense, Net. Interest and other income (expense), net includes interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities, interest expense and other non-operating gains or losses.

Nine months ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Change2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Interest and other expense, net $ (576) (0%) $ (2,442) (1%) $ 1,866 76% 
The 76%, or $1.9 million, decrease in interest and other income (expense), net was due to a $690 thousand decrease related to the loss on
extinguishment of debt in connection with the refinancing of our previous credit facility during the nine months ended December 31, 2011, a
$711 thousand decrease in foreign currency transaction expense, a $364 thousand decrease in interest expense due to a decrease in the interest
rate as well as the payment of our outstanding debt during the quarter ended December 31, 2012. In addition, there was a $119 thousand increase
in interest income.

Income Tax Expense. We estimate our income tax expense based on our estimated annual effective tax rate. The estimated annual effective tax
rate as of December 31, 2012 for fiscal year 2013 is 36.8%, compared to an estimated annual effective tax rate of 34.9% as of December 31,
2011 for fiscal year 2012. Generally, the annual effective tax rates differ from statutory rates primarily due to the impact of the domestic
production activities deduction, the impact of state taxes, and federal, foreign and state tax credits. The difference in our estimated effective tax
rate compared to the prior year is primarily due to acquisition related items, the expiration of the research and development credit and
differences in tax rates in foreign jurisdictions as compared to the United States. The Company expects to record a tax benefit in the quarter
ended March 31, 2013 related to the extension of the research and development tax credit signed into law in January 2013.

Nine months ended
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Change2012 2011

% of
Revenue

% of
Revenue $ %

Income tax expense $ 16,033 6% $ 11,317 5% $ 4,716 42% 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or
special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements. As such, we are not
exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged in such relationships.

Commitment and Contingencies

We account for claims and contingencies in accordance with authoritative guidance that requires us to record an estimated loss from a claim or
loss contingency when information available prior to issuance of our consolidated financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability
has been incurred at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. If we determine
that it is reasonably possible but not probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred or if the amount of a probable loss
cannot be reasonably estimated, then in accordance with the authoritative guidance, we disclose the amount or range of estimated loss if the
amount or range of estimated loss is material. Accounting for claims and contingencies requires us to use our judgment. We consult with legal
counsel on those issues related to litigation and seek input from other experts and advisors with respect to matters in the ordinary course of
business. For additional information with respect to legal proceedings, refer to Part II, Item 1 �Legal Proceedings.�
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We recorded two contingent liabilities related to the acquisition of Simena. One relates to future consideration to be paid to the former owner
which had an initial fair value of $8.0 million at the time of acquisition and another relates to contractual non-compliance liabilities incurred by
Simena with an initial fair value of $1.6 million at the time of acquisition. At December 31, 2012, the present value of the future consideration
was $5.8 million and the contractual non-compliance liability was $295 thousand.

During the summer of 2012, we received letters from former Accanto employees reserving their rights and alleging violations of Italian Civil
Code Article 2112. Further, in December 2012, we received communication from an Italian law firm engaged by a subset of Accanto employees
asserting violations of Italian Civil Code Article 2112 and requesting transfer of employment to NetScout. We determined that legal action and a
resulting liability are probable related to certain Accanto employees based on the communications received. As of December 31, 2012, we have
accrued an immaterial liability that it is less than the maximum potential liability that we would be liable for under the Share Purchase
Agreement. We believe the maximum potential liability that we are liable for is also immaterial.

As disclosed in Item 1, in March 2012, we uncovered and investigated, and in April 2012, disclosed to the U.S. Department of Justice and the
California State Attorney General potential violations of federal and California state anti-trust laws. The potential violations involve a former
employee and one or more third parties in connection with sales to state governmental agencies during fiscal year 2012. We believe we did not
benefit from any of the transactions uncovered and believe that the amounts involved are not material. The California State Attorney General is
conducting an investigation into the matter. We are cooperating fully and are providing all requested information. In general, the federal and
state agencies have the authority to seek fines and other remedies for anti-trust violations; however, no charges or proceedings have been
initiated by any governmental agency against NetScout, and we have been informed by the Department of Justice that it does not intend to take
any action against NetScout. We determined that it is probable that there will be amounts due, those amounts are reasonably estimable and have
been accrued as an immaterial liability as of December 31, 2012.

Backlog

Our combined product backlog at December 31, 2012, consisting of unshipped orders and deferred product revenue, was $17.3 million
compared to $13.0 million at March 31, 2012. Due to the fact that most if not all of our customers have the contractual ability to cancel
unshipped orders prior to shipment we cannot provide assurance that our product backlog at any point in time will ultimately become revenue.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2012

March 31,
2012

Cash and cash equivalents $ 90,836 $ 117,255
Short-term marketable securities 35,324 79,617
Long-term marketable securities 10,540 16,644

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 136,700 $ 213,516

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities

At December 31, 2012 cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaled $136.7 million, down $76.8 million from $213.5 million at
March 31, 2012 due primarily to the $62.0 million repayment of long-term debt, $51.3 million used for the acquisitions of ONPATH and
Accanto, $20.7 million of cash used to repurchase shares of our common stock and $8.1 million of cash used for capital expenditures, offset by
$66.8 million of cash provided by operating activities.
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Substantially all of our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are located in the United States. At December 31, 2012, cash and
short-term and long-term investments in the United States was $132.9 million, while cash held offshore was approximately $3.8 million.

Cash and cash equivalents were impacted by the following:

Nine months ended December 31,
(Dollars in Thousands)

        2012                2011        
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 66,978 $ 43,883
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities $ (9,821) $ 17,423
Net cash used in financing activities $ (83,474) $ (25,702) 

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $67.0 million during the nine months ended December 31, 2012, compared to $43.9 million of cash
provided by operating activities in the nine months ended December 31, 2011. This $22.9 million increase was due to a $7.8 million
improvement from accrued compensation and other expenses during the nine months ended December 31, 2012 when compared to the nine
months ended December 31, 2011 largely due to the timing of accruals for incentive compensation as a result of achieving performance-based
targets during the first nine months of fiscal year 2013 while such targets were not achieved in the first nine months of fiscal year 2012 and
accruals for the employee stock purchase plan which began in March 2012. In addition, there was a $6.7 million increase from deferred revenue
as a result of an increase in deferred maintenance revenue, a $6.6 million increase in profitability, a $3.9 million increase as a result of a
decrease in inventories, $3.0 million improvement due to a decrease in deferred income taxes, a $1.6 million improvement from depreciation and
amortization and a $1.1 million increase as a result of share-based compensation. These were offset by a $3.6 million impact from prepaid
expenses and other assets due to a $3.1 million increase in prepaid income taxes. In addition, there was a $4.1 million unfavorable impact from
accounts receivable in the nine months ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the nine months ended December 31, 2011. Accounts
receivable days sales outstanding was 61 days as of the end of the third quarter of fiscal year 2013 compared to 70 days at March 31, 2012 and
54 days at the end of the third quarter of fiscal year 2012.

We expect that cash provided by operating activities will continue to increase due to an expected increase in cash collections related to
anticipated higher revenues, partially offset by an anticipated increase in operating expenses that require cash outlays such as salaries and
commissions.

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Nine months ended December 31,
(Dollars in Thousands)

        2012                2011        
Cash (used in) provided by investing activities included the
following:
Purchase of marketable securities $ (102,478) $ (89,369) 
Proceeds from maturity of marketable securities 153,046 161,365
Purchase of fixed assets (8,312) (7,852) 
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (51,273) (46,721) 
Increase in deposits (804) 0

$ (9,821) $ 17,423
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Cash (used in) provided by investing activities was down $27.2 million to $9.8 million used during the nine months ended December 31, 2012,
compared to $17.4 million of cash provided by investing activities in the nine months ended December 31, 2011. During the nine months ended
December 31, 2012, we paid $51.3 million for acquisitions, as compared to $46.7 million for acquisitions during the nine months ended
December 31, 2011.

Our expenditures for property and equipment consist primarily of computer equipment, demonstration units, office equipment and facility
improvements. We plan to continue to invest in capital expenditures to support our infrastructure in our fiscal year 2013.

Net inflow relating to the purchase and sales of marketable securities was down $21.4 million during the nine months ended December 31, 2012
when compared to the nine months ended December 31, 2011 relating to the impact of our investments mix. In addition, during the nine months
ended December 31, 2012, redemptions by the issuers for our remaining auction rate securities totaling $19.3 million were settled. As a result of
the settlements, we reversed the remaining valuation reserve of $190 thousand. We held no investments in auction rate securities at
December 31, 2012.

Net cash used in financing activities

Nine months ended December 31,
(Dollars in Thousands)

        2012                2011        
Cash used in financing activities included the following:
Issuance of common stock under stock plans $ 516 $ 264
Payment of contingent consideration (3,197) 0
Treasury stock repurchases (20,727) (17,939) 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of issuance
costs 0 60,691
Repayment of long-term debt (62,000) (68,106) 
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation awards 1,934 (612) 

$ (83,474) $ (25,702) 

Cash used in financing activities was up $57.8 million to $83.5 million during the nine months ended December 31, 2012, compared to $25.7
million of cash used in financing activities in the nine months ended December 31, 2011.

On October 29, 2012, we paid down our outstanding credit facility in the amount of $62.0 million. As of the date of this filing there are no
amounts outstanding under this credit facility. In the nine months ended December 31, 2011 we repaid $7.4 million under the terms of our
previous credit facility.

During the nine months ended December 31, 2012, we paid $3.2 million of the contingent purchase consideration related to the acquisition of
Simena. For additional information with respect to the contingent purchase consideration, see Note 12 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of this Form 10-Q.

Our Board of Directors has periodically authorized us to repurchase shares of our common stock. We are currently authorized to repurchase up
to four million shares with cash from operations. We repurchased 749,499 shares at a cost of $17.0 million under this program during the nine
months ended December 31, 2012. Future repurchases of shares will reduce our cash balances. In addition, during the nine months ended
December 31, 2012, we had 161,327 shares transferred to us from employees for tax withholding at a cost of $3.7 million.
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Credit Facility

On November 22, 2011, we entered into a credit facility with a syndicate of lenders led by KeyBank National Association (KeyBank) which
provides us with a $250 million revolving credit facility, which may be increased to $300 million at any time up to 90 days before maturity. The
revolving credit facility includes a swing line loan sub-facility of up to $10 million and a letter of credit sub-facility of up to $10 million. The
credit facility matures on November 21, 2016. At December 31, 2012 there were no amounts outstanding under the credit facility. For a
description of additional terms and conditions of the credit facility, including limitations on our ability to undertake certain actions, see Note 10
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q.

Expectations for Fiscal Year 2013

We believe that our cash balances, short-term marketable securities classified as available-for-sale and future cash flows generated by operations
will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for working capital, capital expenditures and scheduled interest payments on our debt for at
least the next 12 months.

Additionally, a portion of our cash may be used to acquire or invest in complementary businesses or products or to obtain the right to use
complementary technologies. From time to time, in the ordinary course of business, we evaluate potential acquisitions of such businesses,
products or technologies such as our acquisitions of Psytechnics on April 1, 2011, Replay on October 3, 2011, Simena on November 18, 2011,
certain assets, technology and employees of Accanto on July 20, 2012 and ONPATH on October 31, 2012. If our existing sources of liquidity
are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities. The sale of additional equity or debt
securities could result in additional dilution to our stockholders.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2012, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update 2012-02: Testing Indefinite-Lived
Intangible Assets for Impairment (ASU 2012-02). ASU 2012-02 gives entities an option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether
the existence of events and circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired. If based on
its qualitative assessment an entity concludes that it is more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than
its carrying amount, quantitative impairment testing is required. However, if an entity concludes otherwise, quantitative impairment testing is not
required. ASU 2012-02 is effective for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012 (the
first quarter of fiscal year 2014 for the NetScout), with early adoption permitted. We intend to early adopt this standard during the fourth quarter
of our fiscal year ending March 31, 2013 for our annual impairment test. We do not expect that the adoption of this standard will have a material
effect on our financial statements.

On April 1, 2012, we adopted Accounting Standards Update 2011-05: Presentation of Comprehensive Income (ASU 2011-05), which requires
an entity to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income
either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. ASU 2011-05 eliminates the
option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in equity. These condensed consolidated
financial statements include separate Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-11: Balance Sheet (Topic 210), Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities, which
requires companies to disclose information about financial instruments that have been offset and related arrangements to enable users of its
financial statements to understand the effect of those arrangements on its financial position. Companies will be required to provide both net
(offset amounts) and gross information in the notes to the financial statements for relevant assets and liabilities that are offset. ASU 2011-11 will
be effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning on or after January 1, 2013 (the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013
for NetScout). The adoption of ASU 2011-11 will impact financial statement presentation only; accordingly, it will have no impact on our
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
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Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and
rates. Our primary market risk exposures are in the areas of interest rate risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk. We currently do not hedge
interest rate exposure, but do not believe that a fluctuation in interest rates would have a material impact on the value of our cash equivalents and
marketable securities.

Credit Risk. Our cash equivalents and marketable securities consist primarily of money market instruments, U.S. Treasury bills, certificates of
deposit, commercial paper, corporate bonds and municipal obligations.

At December 31, 2012, we have maintained cash balances in various operating accounts in excess of federally insured limits. We limit the
amount of credit exposure with any one financial institution by evaluating the creditworthiness of the financial institutions with which we invest.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk. As a result of our foreign operations, we face exposure to movements in foreign currency exchange rates,
primarily the Euro, British Pound, Canadian Dollar and Indian Rupee. The current exposures arise primarily from expenses denominated in
foreign currencies. NetScout currently engages in foreign currency hedging activities in order to limit these exposures. We do not use derivative
financial instruments for speculative trading purposes.

As of December 31, 2012, we had foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts totaling $14.4 million. The valuation of outstanding
foreign currency forward contracts at December 31, 2012 resulted in an asset balance of $293 thousand, reflecting favorable rates in comparison
to current market rates and a liability balance of $68 thousand, reflecting unfavorable contract rates in comparison to current market rates at this
date. As of March 31, 2012, we had foreign currency forward contracts with notional amounts totaling $11.2 million. The valuation of
outstanding foreign currency forward contracts at March 31, 2012 resulted in a liability balance of $166 thousand, reflecting unfavorable
contract rates in comparison to current market rates at this date and an asset balance of $150 thousand reflecting favorable rates in comparison to
current market rates.

Item 4.  Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2012, NetScout, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Company�s principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures
pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act). Based upon that evaluation,
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2012, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

There were no changes in our internal controls that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II: OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

From time to time, NetScout is subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the
amount of ultimate expense with respect to any current legal proceedings and claims, if determined adversely, will not have a significant adverse
effect on the Company�s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

During the summer of 2012, we received letters from former Accanto employees reserving their rights and alleging violations of Italian Civil
Code Article 2112. Further, in December 2012, we received communication from an Italian law firm engaged by a subset of Accanto employees
asserting violations of Italian Civil Code Article 2112 and requesting transfer of employment to NetScout. We determined that legal action and a
resulting liability are probable related to certain Accanto employees based on the communications received. As of December 31, 2012, we have
accrued an immaterial liability that it is less than the maximum potential liability that we would be liable for under the Share Purchase
Agreement. We believe the maximum potential liability that we are liable for is also immaterial.

In March 2012, NetScout uncovered and investigated, and in April 2012, disclosed to the U.S. Department of Justice and the California State
Attorney General potential violations of federal and California state anti-trust laws. The potential violations involve a former employee and one
or more third parties in connection with sales to state governmental agencies during fiscal year 2012. NetScout believes it did not benefit from
any of the transactions uncovered and believes that the amounts involved are not material. The California State Attorney General is conducting
an investigation into the matter. NetScout is cooperating fully and is providing all requested information. In general, the federal and state
agencies have the authority to seek fines and other remedies for anti-trust violations; however, no charges or proceedings have been initiated by
any governmental agency against NetScout and we have been informed by the Department of Justice that it does not intend to take any action
against NetScout.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. �Risk Factors� in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended March 31, 2012. The risks discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K could
materially affect our business, financial condition and future results. There have been no material changes to those risk factors since we filed our
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition or operating results.

Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table provides information about purchases we made during the quarter ended December 31, 2012 of equity securities that are
registered by us pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act (Dollars in millions, except per share data:)

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased (1)
Average Price
Paid per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly

Announced
Plans

or Programs

Maximum Number
of Shares 
That May

Yet be Purchased
Under the Plans

or
Programs

10/1/2012 thru 10/31/2012 10,572 $ 25.00 0 1,743,707
11/1/2012 thru 11/30/2012 218,586 24.50 212,612 1,531,095
12/1/2012 thru 12/31/2012 38,813 24.93 37,388 1,493,707

Total 267,971 $ 24.58 250,000 1,493,707
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(1) We purchased an aggregate of 17,971 shares transferred to us from employees in satisfaction of minimum tax withholding obligations
associated with the vesting of restricted stock during the period. These purchases reflected in the table do not reduce the maximum number
of shares that may be purchased under the plan.

(2) In July 2006, our Board authorized us to repurchase up to four million shares of our outstanding common stock with no pre-established
end date.

Item 6. Exhibits

(a) Exhibits

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 31, 2012 by and among NetScout Systems, Inc., Gold Merger Sub, Inc.,
OnPATH Technologies Inc., and Blueprint Ventures Management I, LLC, solely in its capacity as the representative of
certain holders of OnPATH�s securities. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed November 1, 2012).

10.1 Executive Employment Transition Agreement, dated October 19, 2012, by and between the Company and David
Sommers. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October
19, 2012).

31.1 + Certification of Chief Executive Officer of NetScout Systems, Inc., as required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

31.2 + Certification of Chief Financial Officer of NetScout Systems, Inc., as required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

32.1 ++ Certification by the Chief Executive Officer, as required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 36 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350).

32.2 ++ Certification by the Chief Financial Officer, as required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 36 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350).

101.INS ** XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH ** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL ** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase document.

101.DEF ** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase document.

101.LAB ** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase document.

101.PRE ** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase document.

+ Filed herewith.
++ Furnished herewith. The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and Exhibit 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, are

not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of NetScout
Systems, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or
after the date of this Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

** XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus
for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

NETSCOUT SYSTEMS, INC.

Date: February 1, 2013 /s/ Anil K. Singhal
Anil K. Singhal

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 1, 2013 /s/ Jean Bua
Jean Bua
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

(Principal Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 31, 2012 by and among NetScout Systems, Inc., Gold Merger Sub, Inc.,
OnPATH Technologies Inc., and Blueprint Ventures Management I, LLC, solely in its capacity as the representative of
certain holders of OnPATH�s securities. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed November 1, 2012).

10.1 Executive Employment Transition Agreement, dated October 19, 2012, by and between the Company and David
Sommers. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October
19, 2012).

31.1 + Certification of Chief Executive Officer of NetScout Systems, Inc., as required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

31.2 + Certification of Chief Financial Officer of NetScout Systems, Inc., as required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

32.1 ++ Certification by the Chief Executive Officer, as required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 36 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350).

32.2 ++ Certification by the Chief Financial Officer, as required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 36 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350).

101.INS ** XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH ** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL ** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase document.

101.DEF ** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase document.

101.LAB ** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase document.

101.PRE ** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase document.

+ Filed herewith.
++ Furnished herewith. The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and Exhibit 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, are

not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of NetScout
Systems, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or
after the date of this Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

** XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus
for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.
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